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User, OHCA

From: Schaeffer-Helmecki, Jessica
Sent: Wednesday, March 22, 2017 1:07 PM
To: wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org
Cc: Riggott, Kaila; User, OHCA; Mitchell, Micheala
Subject: Completeness Questions: Connecticut Children's Medical Center CON application
Attachments: 32148 Connecticut Children's Medical Center.docx

Dear Mr. Agostinucci: 
 
Attached please find completeness questions associated with docket number 17‐32148‐CON. Please confirm that you 
have received this e‐mail.  
 
Thank you, 
 
Jessica Schaeffer‐Helmecki, JD, MPA 
Planning Analyst, Office of Health Care Access 
Connecticut Department of Public Health 
410 Capitol Avenue, MS #13 HCA, Hartford, Connecticut 06134 
P: (860) 509‐8075|F: (860) 418‐7053|E: jessica.schaeffer‐helmecki@ct.gov 
 

    
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

Phone: (860) 418-7001  Fax: (860) 418-7053 
410 Capitol Avenue, MS#13HCA 

Hartford, Connecticut  06134-0308 
www.ct.gov/dph 

Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer 
 

Office of Health Care Access 

March 22, 2017        Via Email Only 

Mr. William Agostinucci 
Director of Clinical Support Services 
Connecticut Children’s Medical Center 
282 Washington Street 
Hartford, CT 06106 
wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org 
 

RE: Certificate of Need Application; Docket Number: 17-32148-CON 
Connecticut Children’s Medical Center Acquisition of a 3 Tesla MRI Scanner 
Certificate of Need Completeness Letter  
 

Dear Mr. Agostinucci: 

On February 21, 2017, the Department of Public Health (“DPH”), Office of Health Care Access 
(“OHCA”) received the Certificate of Need (“CON”) application from Connecticut Children’s 
Medical Center (“CT Children’s”) for the acquisition of a 3 Tesla MRI Scanner with a total 
capital expenditure of $3,960,846. OHCA requests additional information pursuant to 
Connecticut General Statutes §19a-639a(c). Please “reply all” to electronically confirm receipt 
of this email as soon as you receive it. Provide responses to the questions below in both a Word 
document and PDF format as an attachment to a responding email. Please email your responses 
to both of the following email addresses: OHCA@ct.gov and Kaila.Riggott@ct.gov. 
  

Paginate and date your response (i.e., each page in its entirety). Repeat each OHCA question before 
providing your response. Information filed after the initial CON application submission (e.g., 
completeness response letter, prefiled testimony, late file submissions, etc.) must be numbered 
sequentially from the Applicant’s preceding document. Begin your submission using using Page 
307 and reference “Docket Number: 17-32148-CON.”  

Pursuant to Section 19a-639a(c) of the Connecticut General Statutes, you must submit your 
response to this request for additional information no later than sixty days after the date this 



Connecticut Children’s Medical Center    Page 2 of 2 
Docket Number: 17-32148-CON 
 

request was transmitted. Therefore, please provide your written responses to OHCA no later than 
May 22, 2017 4:30 p.m., otherwise your application will be automatically considered 
withdrawn.  

1. The projected volume for the use of the Phillips 3T is substantially less than the 
projected volume for the use of the Seimen’s 1.5T in Table B on page 294 of the 
application. Please explain the methodology used to make those projections. 
 

2. Update the volume for the current fiscal year in Table 5 on page 33 of the application.  
Additionally, the period between 10/1/2017 and 11/30/2017 is noted in the column for 
the current fiscal year of 2017. Confirm the dates used to calculate the volume for the 
2017 fiscal year. 
 

3. Define the terms “spatial resolution” and “post imaging processing” found on page 14 
of the application.   
 

4. On page 23 of the application, growth is said to be attributed, in part, to service line 
advancements, increased sedation and anesthesia-related cases and additional cases in 
sub-specialty care.  

a. Define the term “service line advancement” and discuss why service line 
advancement contributes to growth.   

b. Explain why sedation and anesthesia-related cases will increase. 
c. List the percentage of growth projected for each of the following: 

i. service line advances; 
ii. complex cases in sub-specialty care; 
iii. rotation away from CT imaging; 
iv. increased need for more sedation and anesthesia-related cases; and 
v. reduction in back-log of patients. 

5. Enumerate the factors and explain the methodology used to derive the projected volume 
for fiscal years 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 in Table 6 on page 33 of the application. 

 

If you have any questions concerning this letter, please feel free to contact Kaila Riggott at (860) 
418-7037. 
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User, OHCA

From: Agostinucci, William <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org>
Sent: Wednesday, March 22, 2017 5:28 PM
To: Schaeffer-Helmecki, Jessica
Cc: Riggott, Kaila; User, OHCA; Mitchell, Micheala
Subject: RE: Completeness Questions: Connecticut Children's Medical Center CON application

Dear Ms. Schaeffer‐Helmecki, 
I am acknowledging receipt of the Completeness Questions for the Connecticut Children’s Medical Center CoN 
application, docket number 17‐32148‐CON. 
Thank you.  
 
William Agostinucci, MS RPh, FACHE 
Director, Clinical Support Services 
Connecticut Children's Medical Center 
282 Washington Street 
Hartford, CT 06106 
860‐837‐5752 
 
 
 

From: Schaeffer‐Helmecki, Jessica [mailto:Jessica.Schaeffer‐Helmecki@ct.gov]  
Sent: Wednesday, March 22, 2017 1:07 PM 
To: Agostinucci, William <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org> 
Cc: Riggott, Kaila <Kaila.Riggott@ct.gov>; User, OHCA <OHCA@ct.gov>; Mitchell, Micheala <Micheala.Mitchell@ct.gov>
Subject: Completeness Questions: Connecticut Children's Medical Center CON application 
 
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
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**Connecticut Children's Confidentiality Notice** 
This e‐mail message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain confidential and 
privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, 
or an employee or agent responsible for delivering the message to the intended recipient, please contact the sender by reply e‐mail 
and destroy all copies of the original message, including any attachments.  
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User, OHCA

From: Agostinucci, William <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org>
Sent: Wednesday, April 19, 2017 11:58 AM
To: User, OHCA; Riggott, Kaila
Subject: CCMC Completeness Questions Response - Docket Number: 17-32148-CON
Attachments: 3T MRI Completeness Questions- Docket # 17-32148-CON (00000003).docx; 3T MRI 

Completeness Scanned- Docket # 17-32148-CON (00000003).pdf

Dear Ms. Riggott, 
 
Attached please find a Word and PDF scanned document of responses to the Certificate of Need Completeness Letter 
dated March 22,2017, received from Ms. Jennifer Schaeffer‐Helmecki, JD, MPA, regarding Connecticut Children’s CON 
application for a 3T MRI Scanner.  
 
Please reply that you have received this e mail.  
 
If further information is needed please contact me at your convenience.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
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
Sent: Wednesday, May 17, 2017 4:52 PM
To: wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org
Cc: User, OHCA; Riggott, Kaila; Mitchell, Micheala
Subject: CON 17-32148 Second Completeness Letter
Attachments: 17-32148-CON-Connecticut Children's MRI Second Completeness 5.17.17.pdf

Dear Mr. Agostinucci: 
 
Attached please find a second completeness letter related to CCMC’s CON application to acquire an MRI Scanner (docket 
number 17‐32148). Please confirm receipt of this message.  
 
If you have any questions please contact Kaila Riggott at (860) 4128‐7037 and have a good evening. 
 
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

May 17,  2017   

       Via Email Only 

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

Certificate of Need Second Completeness Letter 

 

Dear Mr. Agostinucci: 

On April 19, 2017, the Department of Public Health (“DPH”), Office of Health Care Access 

(“OHCA”) received completeness responses on behalf of the Connecticut Children’s Medical 

Center (“CT Children’s”) for the acquisition of a 3 Tesla MRI Scanner. 

 

OHCA requests additional information pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes §19a-639a(c). 

Please “reply all” to electronically confirm receipt of this email as soon as you receive it. 

Provide responses to the questions below in both a Word document and PDF format as an 

attachment to a responding email. Please email your responses to each of the following 

addresses: OHCA@ct.gov and kaila.riggott@ct.gov. 

 

Pursuant to Section 19a-639a(c) of the Connecticut General Statutes, you must submit your 

response to this request for additional information no later than sixty days after the date that this 

request was transmitted. Therefore, please provide your written responses to OHCA no later than 

July 16, 2017, otherwise your application will be automatically considered withdrawn. 

 

mailto:OHCA@ct.gov
mailto:kaila.riggott@ct.gov


Connecticut Children’s Medical Center 

17-32148-CON 

Repeat each question before providing your response and paginate and date your response (i.e., 

each page, in its entirety). Information filed after the initial CON application submission (e.g., 

completeness response letter, prefiled testimony, late file submissions and the like) must be 

numbered sequentially from the applicant’s document preceding it. Please begin your submission 

using Page 313 and reference “Docket Number: 16-32148-CON.” 

 

1. The total annual volume, as shown on page 311 of the application, appears to have been 

derived by adding the baseline of 4,490 scans performed by the existing 1.5T MRI to the 

“total incremental volume.”  However, the total incremental volume, as calculated by the 

Applicant, is cumulative across all fiscal years rather than calculated for each individual 

year (i.e., as shown in the “total yearly incremental volume” line).  Please recalculate the 

total annual volume. Please calculate each column separately without adding volume 

from the prior year.  
 

INCREMENTAL SCAN VOLUME BY FISCAL YEAR 

 FY18 FY19 FY20 
 

FY21 

Existing Referrals and 
Service Lines 

   
 

Complex Cases     

Avoidance of CT    
 

Anesthesia and 
Sedation 

    

Backlog    
 

Total  3T Incremental 

Scans 
   

 

Total 1.5T Scans     

TOTAL ANNUAL  

volume (total 3T 

incremental scans + 

total 1.5T scans) 

   
 

 

  

2. Page 308 of the application indicates that the Applicant’s projections are based, in part, 

upon an increase in volume of approximately 1,500 scans per year by recapturing out-

migration referrals. Confirm that the 1,500 annual scans referenced on page 308 of the 

application are reflected in the table on pages 311 and 312 of the application. 

Additionally, indicate where this figure is reflected in the tables. 

 

3. On page 311 of the application, the incremental volume of scans involving anesthesia and 

sedation for fiscal years 2020 and 2021 is 0. Verify the figures for those years and, if 

correct, explain why. 



 

           

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

 

 

Jessica Schaeffer-Helmecki 

Planning Analyst 
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User, OHCA

From: Agostinucci, William <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org>
Sent: Thursday, May 18, 2017 9:53 AM
To: Schaeffer-Helmecki, Jessica
Cc: User, OHCA; Riggott, Kaila; Mitchell, Micheala
Subject: RE: CON 17-32148 Second Completeness Letter

I acknowledge receipt of this letter. 
 
Bill Agostinucci, MS RPh, FACHE 
Director, Clinical Support Services 
Connecticut Children's Medical Center 
282 Washington Street 
Hartford, CT 06106 
860‐837‐5752 
(p) 860‐220‐2115 
 
 
 

From: Schaeffer‐Helmecki, Jessica [mailto:Jessica.Schaeffer‐Helmecki@ct.gov]  
Sent: Wednesday, May 17, 2017 4:52 PM 
To: Agostinucci, William <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org> 
Cc: User, OHCA <OHCA@ct.gov>; Riggott, Kaila <Kaila.Riggott@ct.gov>; Mitchell, Micheala <Micheala.Mitchell@ct.gov>
Subject: CON 17‐32148 Second Completeness Letter 
 
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
Sent: Monday, June 12, 2017 4:50 PM
To: User, OHCA; Riggott, Kaila
Subject: Connecticut Children's Second Completeness Questions Response - Docket Number: 

17-32148-CON
Attachments: 3T Second Completeness Questions 6-12-17 Docket 17-32148-CON.DOCX; Scanned 3T 

CON Docket # 17-32148 CON - 2nd Completeness Letter 6-12-17.pdf

Dear Ms. Riggott,  
 
Attached please find a Word and PDF scanned document of responses to the Certificate of Need Second Completeness 
Letter dated May 17, 2017, received from Jennifer Schaeffer‐Helmecki, JD, MPA, regarding Connecticut Children’s CON 
application for a 3T MRI Scanner.  
 
Please contact me if you need anything further. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
William Agostinucci 
 
William Agostinucci, MS RPh, FACHE 
Director, Clinical Support Services 
Connecticut Children's Medical Center 
282 Washington Street 
Hartford, CT 06106 
Phone ‐ 860‐837‐5752 
 
 
 

 
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

From: Mitchell, Micheala
Sent: Wednesday, July 12, 2017 11:49 AM
To: 'Agostinucci, William'
Cc: Schaeffer-Helmecki, Jessica; User, OHCA; Riggott, Kaila
Subject: RE: 17-32148 CON Connecticut Children's Medical Center/MRI

Mr. Agostinucci: 
 
Thank you for speaking with us this morning.  We anticipate receiving the responses to our inquiries later today unless 
you notify us otherwise.  As we discussed, you can email them to us directly.   
 
If you have any questions, or need additional time please contact me at 860‐418‐7055 or Jessica at 860‐509‐8075.  
 
Micheala L. Mitchell 
Staff Attorney, PHHO/OHCA 
Connecticut Department of Public Health 
410 Capitol Avenue, MS# 13‐HCA, Hartford, CT 06134 
Phone:  (860) 418‐7055 
Email:  micheala.mitchell@ct.gov 

     
 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This electronic message may contain information that is confidential and/or legally privileged. It is 
intended only for the use of the individual(s) and entity named as recipients in the message. If you are not an intended recipient of 
the message, please notify the sender immediately and delete the material from any computer. Do not deliver, distribute, or copy 
this message, and do not disclose its contents or take action in reliance on the information it contains. Thank you. 

 
 
 

From: Agostinucci, William [mailto:Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org]  
Sent: Tuesday, July 11, 2017 6:16 PM 
To: Mitchell, Micheala <Micheala.Mitchell@ct.gov> 
Cc: Schaeffer‐Helmecki, Jessica <Jessica.Schaeffer‐Helmecki@ct.gov>; User, OHCA <OHCA@ct.gov>; Riggott, Kaila 
<Kaila.Riggott@ct.gov> 
Subject: RE: 17‐32148 CON Connecticut Children's Medical Center/MRI 
 
Ms. Mitchell,  
Thank you for the advance information. I am available at 9am tomorrow. I can call your office at that time.  
Bill Agostinucci 

From: Mitchell, Micheala [Micheala.Mitchell@ct.gov] 
Sent: Tuesday, July 11, 2017 5:01 PM 
To: Agostinucci, William 
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Cc: Schaeffer-Helmecki, Jessica; User, OHCA; Riggott, Kaila 
Subject: FW: 17-32148 CON Connecticut Children's Medical Center/MRI 

Mr. Agostinucci: 
  
Thank you for acknowledging receipt of my email earlier this afternoon.  Although we have not confirmed a time to talk 
tomorrow, I thought it might be proactive to share our questions with you beforehand.  We are trying to avoid issuing a 
third completeness request for this application because we need only a few questions/clarifications regarding your June 
12th responses.   
  
First, we would like you to update the record with the current scan volume for the 1.5T, year to date, for fiscal year 2017 
(see page 33 of the application). 
  
Second, the year to year growth projections for the 3T scanner are higher than we normally see in these types of 
applications (see page 314 of the application).  We acknowledge your assertion that increases in utilization will be 
derived from service line advancement, additional complex cases, rotation away from CT imaging and reductions in the 
backlog.  However, the percentage increase in utilization is 93% from FY 2018 to 2019.  While we also note that the 
percentage declines to 46% from FY 2019 to 2010, and 25% from FY 2010 to 2021, we want to know if you could provide 
the calculation(s) and/or method(s) used to derive those projections to us.   
  
The deadline to deem the application complete is tomorrow.  Please let me know if you are available to speak at 9 
a.m.  If not, we can work out a mutually beneficial time to talk later in the day. 
  
Thanks again, 
  
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
  
  
  
  
  

From: Mitchell, Micheala  
Sent: Tuesday, July 11, 2017 3:02 PM 
To: 'Agostinucci, William' <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org> 
Cc: Schaeffer‐Helmecki, Jessica <Jessica.Schaeffer‐Helmecki@ct.gov> 
Subject: RE: 17‐32148 CON Connecticut Children's Medical Center/MRI 
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Sure.  Are you available from 9 to 9:15? 
  

From: Agostinucci, William [mailto:Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org]  
Sent: Tuesday, July 11, 2017 3:00 PM 
To: Mitchell, Micheala <Micheala.Mitchell@ct.gov> 
Cc: Schaeffer‐Helmecki, Jessica <Jessica.Schaeffer‐Helmecki@ct.gov> 
Subject: Re: 17‐32148 CON Connecticut Children's Medical Center/MRI 
  
Good afternoon 
I am at a leadership meeting this afternoon. Would tomorrow be possible?   
Thank you 
Bill 
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
On Jul 11, 2017, at 1:39 PM, Mitchell, Micheala <Micheala.Mitchell@ct.gov> wrote: 

Mr. Agostinucci: 
  
Do you have a moment to speak with me and my colleague Jessica this afternoon?  We have a few brief 
follow‐up questions regarding the information that you provided to us in your June 12th completeness 
responses.  We anticipate taking no more than 10 to 15 minutes of your time.   
  
Please advise at your earliest convenience.  
  
Thanks, 
Micheala L. Mitchell 
Staff Attorney, PHHO/OHCA 
Connecticut Department of Public Health 
410 Capitol Avenue, MS# 13‐HCA, Hartford, CT 06134 
Phone:  (860) 418‐7055 
Email:  micheala.mitchell@ct.gov 

    <image001.jpg><image002.jpg> 
  
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This electronic message may contain information that is confidential and/or legally 
privileged. It is intended only for the use of the individual(s) and entity named as recipients in the message. If you 
are not an intended recipient of the message, please notify the sender immediately and delete the material from 
any computer. Do not deliver, distribute, or copy this message, and do not disclose its contents or take action in 
reliance on the information it contains. Thank you. 
  

 
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
Sent: Wednesday, July 12, 2017 1:33 PM
To: Mitchell, Micheala
Cc: Schaeffer-Helmecki, Jessica; User, OHCA; Riggott, Kaila
Subject: RE: 17-32148 CON Connecticut Children's Medical Center/MRI

Dear Ms. Mitchell,  
Please find the responses to your questions below. Please contact me if there are any further questions.  
Thank you.  
 
 
Bill Agostinucci, MS RPh, FACHE 
Director, Clinical Support Services 
Connecticut Children's Medical Center 
282 Washington Street 
Hartford, CT 06106 
860‐837‐5752 
Cell  860‐306‐6077 
 
 
Volume Assumptions for the 3T MRI Acquisition at Connecticut Children’s Medical Center  
 
 
Year to date volume for the 1.5T through June 2017 is 3601.  
 
Volume projections for the 3T scanner were based on the following factors: 

 Approximately 1500 scans per year are directed outside of the hospital due to capacity issues. We project to 
capture those scans by a third of the total volume annually over a three year period, eventually eradicating 
the issue and therefore reflect 500, 1000, and 1500 scans annually in the first three years.  

 In addition, the volume of complex cases will grow as a result of addition of more highly acute cases based 
on discussions with the Medical Staff and advancements in areas such as Oncology, Nephrology, Neurology 
and NeuroSurgery. 

 The increases in anesthesia and sedation cases were calculated through estimates from our Radiology 
Medical Director and Anesthesia Director in an effort to route patients away from radiation exposure from 
CT. Additional growth in this area would be achieved as the backlog is reduced allowing for cases that 
require anesthesia or sedation to now be accommodated.  

 
 

From: Mitchell, Micheala [mailto:Micheala.Mitchell@ct.gov]  
Sent: Wednesday, July 12, 2017 11:49 AM 
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
Sent: Thursday, July 13, 2017 9:32 AM
To: 'Agostinucci, William'
Cc: Schaeffer-Helmecki, Jessica; Riggott, Kaila; User, OHCA
Subject: 17-32148 Connecticut Children's Medical Center
Attachments: 32148 Connecticut Children's Medical Center Deemed Complete.pdf

Good morning Mr. Agostinucci, 
  
Attached is a letter deeming the above‐referenced application complete. Please confirm receipt of this email and the 
attachment. 
  
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

 



 
 

  

Phone: (860) 418-7001  Fax: (860) 418-7053 
410 Capitol Avenue, M.S. #13HCA 

P.O. Box 340308 
Hartford, Connecticut  06134-0308 

www.ct.gov/dph 
Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer 

 
Office of Health Care Access 

 
 
July 13, 2017 Via Email Only 

 
William Agostinucci 
Director of Clinical Support Services 
Connecticut Children’s Medical Center 
282 Washington Street 
Hartford, CT 06106 
wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org 
 
RE: Certificate of Need Application: Docket Number: 17-32148-CON 

Acquisition of a 3T MRI Scanner at Connecticut Children’s Medical Center 
 
Dear Mr. Agostinucci: 
 
This letter is to inform you that, pursuant to Section 19a-639a (d) of the Connecticut General 
Statutes, the Office of Health Care Access has deemed the above-referenced application 
complete as of July 12, 2017. 
 
If you have any questions concerning this letter, please feel free to contact me at (860) 418-7055. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Micheala L. Mitchell 
Staff Attorney 

Digitally signed by 
Micheala Mitchell 
Date: 2017.07.13 
09:26:21 -04'00'
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User, OHCA

From: Agostinucci, William <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org>
Sent: Thursday, July 13, 2017 10:55 AM
To: Mitchell, Micheala
Cc: Schaeffer-Helmecki, Jessica; Riggott, Kaila; User, OHCA
Subject: RE: 17-32148 Connecticut Children's Medical Center

Ms. Mitchell,  
I am confirming receipt of this e mail and the attachment. 
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
Sent: Thursday, July 13, 2017 9:32 AM 
To: Agostinucci, William <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org> 
Cc: Schaeffer‐Helmecki, Jessica <Jessica.Schaeffer‐Helmecki@ct.gov>; Riggott, Kaila <Kaila.Riggott@ct.gov>; User, OHCA 
<OHCA@ct.gov> 
Subject: 17‐32148 Connecticut Children's Medical Center 
 
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

 
Department of Public Health 

Final Decision 
 

Applicant:  Connecticut Children’s Medical Center 
  
Docket Number: 17-32148-CON 
 
Project Title: Acquisition of a 3.0 Tesla Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scanner  
 
Project Description:  Connecticut Children’s Medical Center (or “Applicant”) seeks authorization to 
acquire a new 3.0 Tesla Magnetic Resonance Imaging scanner to be located at its hospital campus at 282 
Washington Street in Hartford, CT.  
 
Procedural History: The Applicant published notice of its intent to file a Certificate of Need (“CON”) 
application in the Hartford Courant (Hartford) on December 23, December 24 and December 25, 2016. 
On February 21, 2017, the Office of Health Care Access (“OHCA”) received the CON application from 
the Applicant for the above-referenced project and deemed the application complete on July 12, 2017. 
OHCA received no responses from the public concerning the Applicant’s proposal and no hearing 
requests were received from the public pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes (“Conn. Gen. Stat.”) § 
19a-639a. Deputy Commissioner Addo considered the entire record in this matter. 
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Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

 
 
1. Connecticut Children’s Medical Center (“CCMC” or “Applicant”) is a 187-bed non-profit children’s 

hospital located at 282 Washington Street in Hartford, Connecticut. Ex. A, pp. 10-11. 
 

2. CCMC serves as the primary teaching hospital for the Department of Pediatrics at the University of 
Connecticut School of Medicine. Ex. A, pp. 11-12. 
 

3. The Applicant performs approximately 4,400 imaging studies annually using a single, 1.5 Tesla 
(“1.5T”) Magnetic Resonance Imaging (“MRI”) scanner. Ex. A, p. 11. 

 
4. In order to increase pediatric patients’ access to high quality care, improve patient safety, and to 

reduce anesthesia and sedation wait times, the Applicant proposes to acquire a higher strength 
Philips Ingenia 3.0 Tesla (“3T”) Omega MRI scanner. Ex. A, pp.11, 293. 
 

5. Higher strength magnetic scanners such as the 3T are the current standard of care for diagnostic 
imaging in the United States for orthopedic, neurologic, cardiac, gastrointestinal and urologic 
conditions. Two-thirds of free-standing children’s hospitals in the United States have this 
technology. Ex. A, pp. 11, 16-17.  
 

6. The acquisition of the 3T scanner is intended to: 
a. decrease the length of sedation required to acquire images; 
b. reduce the Applicant’s reliance upon computed tomography (CT) scanners for the evaluation of 

urgent/emergency conditions, thereby decreasing radiation exposure;  
c. improve access to all patients regardless of their ability to pay, and  
d. improve spatial resolution and post imaging processing.1 Ex. A, pp. 13-14, 81. 

 
7. Approximately 50% of the Applicant’s patients require sedated MRI studies since many children 

under the age of 10 and those with developmental delays require anesthesia in order to remain still 
throughout the procedure.2 Ex. A, pp. 12, 18-19. 

 
8. Outpatients scheduled to receive scans risk postponement of their appointments so that the Applicant 

can accommodate emergency scans and inpatient examinations.  The Applicant’s wait times for non-
emergent, sedated studies currently average between 10 and 15 days. Ex. A, pp. 11, 14. 
 
 

                                                           
1 The term “spatial resolution” relates to the number of pixels that make up an image; specifically, more pixels of a smaller 
size equate to a sharper image and better diagnostic capability. The phrase “post-image processing” refers to computer-based 
manipulation of the imaging data to show additional detail that is not apparent to the eye based upon anatomy alone. Ex. A, p. 
309. 
 
2 When assessing the need for an MRI scanner, the 2012 Statewide Health Care Facilities and Services Plan allows for 
consideration of unique patient populations and the complexity of scanning procedures, including the impact on available 
scanner access due to lengthy procedures. These guidelines have not yet been formally adopted into regulation. 
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9. According to the Journal of Neurosurgical Pediatrics, “The risk of developing a radiation-induced 
malignancy is relative to a patient’s cumulative radiation exposure and increases with exposure at 
younger ages.” It recommends employing an MRI rather than a CT-scanner to eliminate exposure to 
radiation and minimize sedation risks.3 Ex. A p. 98. 
 

10. Children are more sensitive to radiation than adults, have a longer life expectancy than adults with a 
larger window for exposure to radiation damage and may receive a higher radiation dose than 
necessary if CT settings are not adjusted for their smaller body size, according to the National 
Cancer Institute.4 Ex. A, p. 107.  

 
11. In MR Imaging at 3.0T in Children, The Hospital for Sick Children and the University of Toronto 

list among the advantages of 3.T over 1.5T MRI scans the acquisition of good-quality images even 
with a small field of view and a shorter acquisition time, the latter of which is beneficial for children 
who many not be able to cooperate for long and require additional patient monitoring. As with 
adults, the 3T offers a doubled signal-to-noise ratio, improved spatial resolution and improved 
contrast-to-noise ratio, resulting in clearer images and improved diagnostics.5 Ex. A, p. 81.  

 

12. The Applicant’s historical volume, as shown below, has increased since 2014, however the number 
of scans that can be performed on the 1.5T is constrained by the longer time required to perform 
pediatric scans and the limited possible scheduling hours due to the requirement that patients fast 
before procedures. 

 
TABLE 1 

HISTORICAL (ACTUAL) NUMBER OF SCANS BY FISCAL YEAR 

Scanner  
FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017  

Change 
FY 2014-
FY 2017 

TOTAL 1.5T 4,165 4,374 4,490 4,320* 3.7% 

*FY 2017 annualized based on data from 10/1/2016 through 6/30/2017. 
 Ex. A, p. 11; Ex. C, p. 309. 

  
13. The Applicant estimates that the 3T scanner will be operational by January 2018. Ex. A. p. 10. 

  

                                                           
3 Eric Thompson, M.D. et al., Results of a North American Survey of rapid-sequence MRI utilization to evaluate cerebral 
ventricles in children, 13 J NEUROSURG PEDIATRICS 636-640 (June 2014).   
4 National Cancer Institute, Radiation Risks and Pediatric Computed Tomography (CT): A Guide for Health Care Providers 
(June 2012).  
5 Govind B. Chavhan, M.D. et al., MR Imaging at 3.0T in Children: Technical Differences, Safety Issues, and Initial 
Experience, 29 RADIOGRAPHICS 1451-1466 (2009).  
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14. As shown in the table below, the Applicant projects an overall 37% increase in scans from FY 18 

through FY 21.  
 

 TABLE 2 
PROJECTED NUMBER OF SCANS BY FISCAL YEAR  

Scanner FY 2018 FY 2019 Change* FY 2020 Change* FY 2021 Change* 

FY18-21 

Change 

Total 3T  
Scans 

750 1,450 93% 2,125 47% 2,675 26% 
 

257% 

Total 1.5T 

Scans 
4,490 4,490 0% 4,490 0% 4,490 0% 

 
0% 

TOTAL 5,240 5,940 13% 6,615 11% 7,165 8% 
 

37% 

   * The Applicant projects declining year-over-year percent increases on the 3T as it reduces its existing backlog of 
patients and stabilizes the number of scans it must refer elsewhere due to 1.5T scanner capacity issues.   

Ex. A, pp. 23, 33; Ex. E p. 314. 
 
15. The Applicant attributes the aforementioned projections due to: 

a. advancements within existing and future service lines requiring diagnostic imaging;6 
b. additional complex cases in sub-specialty care,  
c. rotation away from CT imaging to minimize radiation exposure; and 
d. reductions in the back-log of patients waiting for scans. Ex. A, pp. 23; Ex. C, p. 310. 

 
16. The Applicant anticipates that by FY21, with the addition of the 3.0T, it will be able to provide 225 

MRI scans per year to children who would otherwise receive a CT-scan. Ex. E, p. 314. 
 

17. The Applicant currently must refer approximately 1,500 patients per year elsewhere to receive their 
scans. Ex. C, p. 308.  
 

18. By performing the scans in-house, coordination of care will improve by reducing invasive, high-risk 
testing; eliminating the risks associated with transferring patients to other facilities; and maintaining 
the image and results within the patient’s electronic medical record. Ex. A, p.21. 
 

19. The Applicant has a backlog of between 175 and 225 MRI scans to perform on non-emergent 
patients. Ex. E, p. 314.  

 
20. While other hospitals provide pediatric as well as adult MRI scans, CCMC is the only freestanding 

children’s general hospital in Connecticut. Ex. A, p. 35.  
 

21. CCMC solely treats children and has a special team assembled for those children requiring MRIs 
that require sedation, consisting of a Pediatric Anesthesiologist, Sedation Nurse, Child Life 
Specialist, MRI Technologist, and Pediatric Radiologist. The team’s focus is trifold: to ensure 

                                                           
6 A service line is a group of condition-specific, related services, defined by their integrated functions and overlapping patient 
need, integrated to create a coordinated patient experience.  Ex. A., p 310. 
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sedation is performed safely, to minimize the child and its family’s anxiety, acquire quality imaging 
with minimal movement to prevent the need for re-scans. Ex. A, p. 12.  

 
22. The total capital expenditure for the purchase of the 3T MRI is $3,960,846, approximately $822,000 

of which, the Applicant will use for construction/renovation. The Applicant will make the purchase 
using cash from operations. Ex. A, p. 3. 
 

23. The Applicant anticipates operational gains associated with the acquisition and utilization of the new 
scanner. Ex. A, p. 23. 

 
TABLE 3 

PROJECTED INCREMENTAL REVENUES AND EXPENSES   

 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 

Revenue from Operations $736,896 $1,452,957 $2,171,920 $2,788,745 

Total Operating 
Expenses* 

$709,435 $1,306,373 $1,359,073 $1,369,477 

Gain/Loss from 
Operations 

$27,461 $146,584 $812,847 $1,419,268 

* Includes salaries, fringe benefits, professional and contracted services, supplies and drugs and  depreciation 
Ex. A, p. 32. 

 
 

24. As shown in the table below, Applicant’s current payer mix consists of nearly 46% of patients 
covered by Medicaid and 53% covered by commercial insurers.  
 

TABLE 4 
APPLICANT’S CURRENT & PROJECTED PAYER MIX 

Payer 

                                Projected 

FY 2015 FY2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY 2021 

Vol. % Vol. % Vol. % Vol. % Vol. % Vol. % Vol % 

Medicare* 7 0.2% 12 0.3% 2 0.3% 15 % 17 0.3% 19 0.3% 20 0.3% 

Medicaid* 2,013 45.9% 2,060 45.9% 324 45.9% 2,404 45.9% 2,726 45.9% 3,035 45.9% 3,289 45.9% 

CHAMPUS & 
TriCare 

47 1.1% 34 0.8% 6 0.8% 45 0.9% 50 0.8% 56 0.8% 61 0.9% 

Total 
Government 

2,067 47% 2,106 47% 332 47% 2,464 47.1% 2,793 47% 3,110 47% 3,370 47.1% 

Commercial 
Insurers 

2,289 52.3% 2,369 52.8% 372 52.7% 2,761 52.7% 3,130 52.7% 3,486 52.7% 3,775 52.7% 

Uninsured/Self 
Pay 

18 0.4% 15 0.3% 2 0.3% 15 0.3% 17 .03% 19 0.3% 20 0.3% 

Workers 
Compensation 

0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 

Total Non-
Government 

2,307 52.7% 2,384 53.1% 374 53% 2,776 53% 3,147 53% 3,505 53% 3,795 53% 

Total Payer 
Mix 

4,374 99.9% 4,490 100.1% 706 100% 5,240 100% 5,940 100.1% 6,615 100% 7,165 100.1% 

*FY 2017 data is based on months 10/1/2016 through 6/30/2017.   
  Ex. A, p. 34.  
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25. Due to its specialized, child-focused services, the Applicant’s primary service area spans 42 towns 
throughout Connecticut. Ex. A, pp 29. 
 

26. No change in access for the patient population served by this proposal is projected and, in particular, 
for Medicaid patients. Ex. A, pp. 21, 34. 
 

27. The Applicant anticipates no significant change in the amount of incoming referrals received, but 
expects to retain more of its existing outpatient business. Ex. A, p. 29. 
 

28. There will be no change to the Applicant’s pricing structure or cost to consumers as a result of this 
proposal. Ex. A, p. 21.  

 
29. OHCA is currently in the process of establishing its policies and standards as regulations. Therefore, 

OHCA has not made any findings as to this proposal’s relationship to any regulations adopted by 
OHCA. (Conn .Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(1)). 

 
30. This CON application is consistent with the Statewide Health Care Facilities and Services Plan. 

(Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(2)); Ex. A, pp. 18. 
 

31. The Applicant has established that there is a clear public need for its proposal. (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-
639(a)(3)); Ex. A, pp. 18. 

 
32. The Applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that its proposal is financially feasible. (Conn. Gen. Stat. 

§ 19a-639(a)(4)); Ex. A, pp. 22-23. 
 

33. The Applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that the proposal will improve quality, and 
maintain accessibility and cost effectiveness of health care delivery in the region. (Conn. 
Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(5)); Ex. A, pp. 17-20.  

34. The Applicants have shown that there would be no significant change in the provision of health care 
services to the relevant populations and payer mix, including access to services by Medicaid 
recipients. (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(6)); Ex. A, pp. 24, 34. 
 

35. The Applicant has satisfactorily identified the population to be served and has satisfactorily 
demonstrated that this population has a need. (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(7)); Ex. A, pp. 24-25. 

 
36. The utilization of existing health care facilities and health care services in the Applicant’s service 

area supports this application. (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(8)); Ex. A, p. 35. 
 

37. The Applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that the proposal will not result in an unnecessary 
duplication of existing services in the area. (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(9)); Ex. A, p. 30.  

 
38. The Applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that the proposal will not result in a reduction or 

change in access to services for Medicaid recipients or indigent persons. (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-
639(a)(10)); Ex. A, p. 34. 
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39. The Applicant has demonstrated that the proposal will not negatively impact the diversity of health 
care providers and patient choice in the region. (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(11)); Ex. A, p. 30. 

 

40. The Applicants have satisfactorily demonstrated that the proposal will not result in any consolidation 
that would affect health care costs or access to care. (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a)(12)); Ex. A, p. 21. 
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Discussion 

 
CON applications are decided on a case by case basis and do not lend themselves to general 
applicability due to the uniqueness of the facts in each case. In rendering its decision, OHCA considers 
the factors set forth in Conn. Gen. Stat. § 19a-639(a). The Applicant bears the burden of proof in this 
matter by a preponderance of the evidence. Jones v. Connecticut Medical Examining Board, 309 Conn. 
727 (2013).  
 
CCMC, a 187-bed free-standing children’s hospital in Hartford, currently utilizes a single 1.5T MRI 
scanner to conduct approximately 4,400 MRI scans annually. CCMC seeks to acquire a Phillips Ingenia 
3T Omega MRI scanner for its main campus, at a cost of $3.96 million. FF1-FF4, 23.  
 
Recent studies indicate that higher strength MRI scanners, such as the 3T MRI scanner, are the  
current standard of care for the majority of free-standing children’s hospitals in the United States.   
Not only will the proposed scanner produce sharper and more detailed images, the acquisition and 
utilization of the new scanner will reduce the length of sedation required to complete imaging, and 
decrease radiation exposure associated with the utilization of CT scans. FF5-6.  
 
As with adults, the 3T offers a doubled signal-to-noise ratio, improved spatial resolution and improved 
contrast-to-noise ratio, resulting in clearer images and improved diagnostics. An added benefit to 
children is that, the 3T maintains good-quality images even with a small field-of-view in a shorter time. 
FF12. Limiting the acquisition time is of particular importance when scanning children as children under 
the age of 10 and those with special needs often have difficulty remaining still for the duration of the 
procedure. Approximately 50% of the Applicant’s patients require sedation. FF7.  
 
CT scanners are often employed for the evaluation of urgent conditions when MRI scanning is 
unavailable. FF6. MRIs eliminate the exposure to radiation resulting from CT scans. Children are more 
sensitive to radiation than adults and due to their longer life expectancies they have a larger window of 
exposure to radiation damage and may additionally receive a higher radiation dose than necessary if CT 
settings are not adjusted for their smaller body size, according to the National Cancer Institute. FF10. It 
is therefore recommended that MRIs be performed on children. FF11. The Applicant anticipates that by 
FY21, it will, on its second MRI, perform approximately 225 MRI scans on children that would have 
otherwise received CT-scans. FF16. As a result, image quality will be improved and childhood exposure 
to radiation will be minimized due to the proposal.  
 
CCMC is the sole general children’s hospital in Connecticut. It has a special team assembled for those 
children requiring MRIs that require sedation, consisting of a Pediatric Anesthesiologist, Sedation 
Nurse, Child Life Specialist, MRI Technologist, and Pediatric Radiologist. The teams’ focus is trifold: to 
ensure sedation is performed safely, to minimize the child and its family’s anxiety, acquire quality 
imaging with minimal movement to prevent the need for re-scans. FF20.  
 
Currently, the Applicant must refer approximately 1,500 patients per year to other facilities and it has a 
backlog of between 175 and 225 scans to perform. FF17, 19. With the introduction of the second MRI, 
CCMC will be able to accommodate these patients in its specialty care setting. By performing the scans 
in-house, the risks associated with transferring patients to other facilities will be reduced, and 
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coordination of care will be improved due to patients’ imaging results and electronic medical records 
remaining with CCMC. As such, the proposal will increase access to quality care.  
 
Furthermore, the Statewide Healthcare Facilities and Services Plan takes into consideration the “unique 
patient populations” and “complexity of scanning procedures” when assessing a hospital’s need for a 
new or additional MRI.  As the only freestanding general children’s hospital, CCMC serves a unique 
patient population. Due to the nature of scanning children and their specialized sedation needs and 
increased risk of radiation from other imaging techniques, CCMC may also be considered to provide 
complex scanning. FF11, 20-21. 
 
The Applicant expects to retain more of its existing outpatient business as a result of increased capacity 
following the acquisition. Notwithstanding, the Applicant’s proposal should have minimal to no effect 
on upon existing providers due to the size and scope of its primary service area and the specialized 
population it serves. As the proposed scanner will be used in the same location as the existing 1.5T MRI 
scanner, the Applicant will continue to serve the same patient population, including Medicaid and 
indigent patients. Moreover, access to care will be maintained and the proposal will not affect patient 
cost. All of these benefits are consistent with the Statewide Health Care Facilities and Services Plan. 
FF15-FF19. 
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Order 
 
Based upon the foregoing Findings and Discussion, the Certificate of Need application 
requesting authorization to acquire a 3T MRI Scanner, at Connecticut Children’s Hospital in Hartford, 
Connecticut, is hereby APPROVED. 
 
All of the foregoing constitutes the final order of the Office of Health Care Access in this matter. 
 
        By Order of the 
        Department of Public Health 
        Office of Health Care Access 
 
 
___________________                                                          __________________________ 
Date         Yvonne T. Addo, MBA 
        Deputy Commissioner 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

9/13/2017



1

Olejarz, Barbara

From: Agostinucci, William <Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org>
Sent: Wednesday, September 13, 2017 12:23 PM
To: Olejarz, Barbara
Subject: Read: Final Decision
Attachments: Read: Final Decision

 
**Connecticut Children's Confidentiality Notice** This e‐mail message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of 
the intended recipient(s) and may contain confidential and privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, 
disclosure, or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, or an employee or agent responsible for 
delivering the message to the intended recipient, please contact the sender by reply e‐mail and destroy all copies of the 
original message, including any attachments. 



1

Olejarz, Barbara

From: Olejarz, Barbara
Sent: Wednesday, September 13, 2017 12:02 PM
To: 'Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org'
Subject: Final Decision
Attachments: 17-32148 decision.pdf

TrackingTracking: Recipient Delivery Read

'Wagosti@connecticutchildrens.org'

OHCA-DL All OHCA Users

Foreman, Rebecca Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Jensen, Dana Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

McLellan, Rose Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Bruno, Anthony M. Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

'daniels@chime.org'

Johnson, Colleen M

Tillman.Foster@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Leslie.Greer@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Karen.Roberts@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Brian.Carney@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Ronald.Ciesones@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Christopher.Wyvill@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Kevin.Hansted@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Olga.Armah@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Barbara.Olejarz@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Steven.Lazarus@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Jessica.Schaeffer-Helmecki@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Shauna.Walker@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Colleen.Johnson@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Alla.Veyberman@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Gloria.Sancho@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

David.Fernandes@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Kaila.Riggott@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Srinivasa.Chalikonda@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Ormand.Clarke@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Jessica.Rival@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Kimberly.Martone@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Yvonne.Addo@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Carmen.Cotto@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Micheala.Mitchell@ct.gov Delivered: 9/13/2017 12:02 PM

Rival, Jessica Read: 9/13/2017 12:07 PM

Roberts, Karen Read: 9/13/2017 12:09 PM



2

Recipient Delivery Read

Carney, Brian Read: 9/13/2017 12:15 PM

Clarke, Ormand Read: 9/13/2017 12:17 PM

9/13/17 
 
William Agostinucci, 
 
Please see attached final decision for Docket Number: 17‐32148‐CON for the acquisition of an MRI scanner. 
 
 
Barbara K. Olejarz 
Administrative Assistant to Kimberly Martone 
Office of Health Care Access 
Department of Public Health 
Phone: (860) 418‐7005 
Email: Barbara.Olejarz@ct.gov 
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